RECEIVED

Mar 29 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

WILLIAM SHANE FORDHAM BROWN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-001456

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

In this trial where a co-defendant pled guilty earlier but when called as witness by the State at Appellant's trial asserted his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent, did the trial judge err in allowing the State to call the co-defendant's attorney as a witness and admitting a letter in evidence the attorney received from his client during the course of representation before the co-defendant pled guilty, when the attorney for the co-defendant asserted that the letter was privileged communication with his client?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In September of 2018,¹ the Greenville County Grand jury indicted Appellant, William Shane Fordham Brown, for murder, burglary first degree, attempted armed robbery, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime and conspiracy, indictment #2017-GS-23-6747. (R. p. 825). On August 12, 2019, Appellant, with co-defendant, Curtis Allen Babb Jr, proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Robin B. Stillwell. Scott D. Robinson represented Appellant at trial. Sarah M. Henry represented the co-defendant. Katryna B. Owens and Elizabeth Gary prosecuted the case. The jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged. Judge Stillwell sentenced Appellant to an aggregate sentence of forty-five (45) years. Judge Stillwell sentenced the co-defendant to life without parole pursuant to S.C. Code §17-25-45. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on August 26, 2019. This appeal follows.

¹ It is unclear when the Grand Jury met. The number on the face of the indictment shows the year 2017, but at another place on the face of the indictment the year 2017 is crossed out and replaced with 2018. The date listed below the witness name is January 25, 2017. (R. p. 825). The body of the indictment, however, lists September 25, 2018.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The determination of whether or not a communication is privileged and confidential is a matter for the trial judge to decide after a preliminary inquiry into all the facts and circumstances.” Tobaccoville USA v. McMaster, 387 S.C. 287, 292, 692 S.E.2d 526, 529 (2010). “The trial judge’s decision will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion.” Id. The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (“quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id.; see also State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

ARGUMENT

In this trial where a co-defendant pled guilty earlier but when called as witness by the State at Appellant's trial asserted his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent, the trial judge erred in allowing the State to call the co-defendant's attorney as a witness and admitting a letter in evidence the attorney received from his client during the course of representation before the co-defendant pled guilty, when the attorney for the co-defendant asserted that the letter was privileged communication with his client.

A jury found Appellant and co-defendant, Curtis Babb, guilty of the fatal shooting of Clinton Pearson during a burglary and attempted armed robbery on December 8, 2016. Another co-defendant, Connell Wells, pled guilty to murder on March 4, 2019, prior to Appellant's August 2019, trial. (R. p. 224, lines 6-18). Wells received a sentence of thirty (30) years. (R. p. 224, lines 15-18). When called as a witness by the State at Appellant's trial, Wells asserted his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent. (R. pp. 223-227).

Nakia Sims, a family friend of Appellant, testified that in December of 2016, Appellant was living in a spare bedroom of the townhouse where Sims lived with her children. (R. p. 660, line 22 – p. 661, lines 1-22). Sims knew Appellant by the nickname "Deuce."² (R. p. 678, lines 18-20). Sims testified that on the evening of December 8, 2016, she and her children and Appellant ate dinner and then went to bed as usual. (R. p. 662, line 18 – p. 663, lines 1-21). Sims testified that sometime after midnight she heard a banging on the door. (R. p. 665, line 20 – p. 666, lines 1-9). She testified that Appellant also heard the banging and they both went to the door. (R. p. 666, line 10 – p. 667, lines 1-16). Sims testified that when Appellant opened the door, they saw Connell Wells bleeding profusely from his leg. (R. p. 667, line 17 – p. 668, 669, lines 1-25). Wells told them he had been shot. (R. p. 668, lines 1-3). Wells did not want them

² Counsel for Appellant stipulated that Appellant's nickname was "Deuce." (R. p. 528, lines 3-22). Counsel for Appellant also stipulated that Appellant was represented by attorney John Abdalla at one point in time. (R. p. 607, lines 1-15).

to call an ambulance. (R. p. 669, lines 8-23). Sims testified that she tried to stop the bleeding but knew that Wells needed medical attention. (R. p. 668, line 15 – p. 669, lines 1-13). Appellant called 911. (R. p. 669, line 19 – p. 670, lines 1-2). Wells was transported for medical attention and was interviewed by the police. Witness Damean Wideman testified that he knew Wells as “Butta.” (R. p. 361, lines 15-25). Wideman told an investigator that Appellant told him that, “. . . they sent Butta to go search the house and when he returned to the living room, Curt shot him in the knee with a shotgun.” (R. p. 370, line 25 – p. 371, lines 1-3).

Prior to trial co-defendant Curtis Babb moved to sever his trial from Appellant’s trial based on a letter that the State asserted was written by Appellant and sent to co-defendant Wells. (R. pp. 10-27). The letter implicated co-defendants, Wells and Babb in the shooting. The original letter was later admitted as State’s Exhibit #46. (R. p. 606, lines 22-23; R. p. 838). The original letter, State’s Exhibit #46, was written on the back of paperwork with Appellant’s name on it. (R. p. 838). The State advised the judge that an expert would testify that the handwriting in the letter matched the handwriting of Appellant. (R. p. 12, lines 18-20). The judge then asked the prosecutor, “So, Ms. Owens, tell me please, through whom do you intent to introduce the letter and for what purpose do you intend to introduce the letter?” (R. p. 15, lines 6-8). The prosecutor answered:

Well, a variety of witnesses could ultimately introduce the letter. I certainly intend to ask Mr. Connell Wells about the letter, as it is my understanding that Mr. Wells delivered that letter to his attorney at the time. His attorney then forwarded that letter to me. And you’ll note that his attorney, Mr. Shipman, is also on the State’s witness list. I asked him to bring the original of that letter that he’s retained since having received it from his client.

If, of course, Mr. Wells is unwilling to acknowledge or otherwise authenticate the letter, I would certainly make the argument at that time that the rules on authentication, including the very recent Court of Appeals opinion that specifically discuss writings, that the content of this letter and its discussion of

extremely specific details of the case not to mention repeated pronouns I, me, my, our refer to the fact that this letter is written by someone involved in the case.

So, in that respect, we would suggest that a base level authentication foundation has been laid and we would have our SLED employee testify about the examination. The employee at the question document division at SLED.

(R. p. 15, line 9 – p. 16, lines 1-8).

The judge denied the severance motion but ordered redactions to the letter to remove reference to co-defendant Curtis Babb. (R. p. 27, lines 5-21). The redacted copy of the letter was later admitted as State's Exhibit #23. (R. p. 582, line 21 – p. 583, lines 1-10; R. p. 836). Co-defendant Babb also moved to suppress the letter because of threats in the letter aimed at Wells that constituted a prior bad act. (R. p. 39, line 15 – p. 40, lines 1-23). Appellant joined in the motion. (R. p. 40, line 24 – p. 41, lines 1-2). The State argued that if the jury believed the State's hand-writing expert, the letter was functionally a confession by Appellant. (R. p. 41, lines 5-23). The judge overruled the motion to suppress and indicated he would allow its admission as long as it met the threshold of authentication. (R. p. 43, line 23 – p. 44, lines 1-15).

When called as a witness by the State at Appellant's trial, Wells testified that he pled guilty to his participation in a murder that took place on December 8, 2016. (R. p. 224, lines 12-18). He testified that he received a thirty (30) year sentence. (R. p. 224, lines 15-17). When asked who was with him when he committed the crime, Wells asserted his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent and the judge allowed him to invoke the privilege. (R. pp. 224, lines 19-24). The State asked Wells if he told the Court who was with him when he pled guilty and if he met with an investigator at the hospital and gave a statement. (R. p. 225, lines 1-17). Wells asserted his right to remain silent to both of these questions. The State asked if Wells was shot on December 8, 2016. (R. p. 225, line 20). The judge required Wells to answer and he confirmed that he was shot on December 8, 2016. (R. p. 225, lines 20-25). Wells asserted his right to

remain silent when asked about conversations with an investigator and when asked about State's Exhibits #20, #21 and #22. (R. p. 226, line 11 – p. 227, lines 1-7). The State, however, did not try to question Wells about the letter, State's Exhibit #23. (R. p. 836). Wells denied that his nickname was "Butta." (R. p. 227, lines 8-12).

After Wells asserted his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent, the State called his attorney, Chris Shipman, as a witness. (R. p. 530, lines 8-13). Mr. Shipman advised the judge that he had a matter that needed to be addressed outside the presence of the jury. (R. p. 530, lines 14-16). Mr. Shipman advised the judge that under Rule 4.9 of the Rules of Professional Conduct and the fact that his client asserted Fifth Amendment protection, he could not take any action adverse to the interest of his client. (R. p. 531, lines 7-22). Mr. Shipman testified:

Your Honor, a copy was turned over to the State for purposes of plea bargaining and also to prevent a threat. I believe had we gone to trial for him, it would have been inadmissible for those purposes, but pursuant to plea negotiations, involving attorney and prosecutor. But now, I think It's more broadly covered by the confidentiality restrictions and I think I would have to breach my duty to my client to honor the subpoena here today, Your Honor.

(R. p. 534, lines 12-21). Counsel for Appellant and co-defendant agreed that the letter should not be admitted. (R. p. 533, lines 2-6).

The judge asked Mr. Shipman, "Does your client not waive that privilege when he asked you to turn it over to the State?" (R. p. 534, lines 22-24). Mr. Shipman answered, "Well, Your Honor, perhaps, the contents of the letter, which they already have. If they're asking me under what conditions I received it, under what conditions I turned it over, I think that's all confidential." (R. p. 534, line 25 – p. 535, lines 1-4). The judge overruled the objections. (R. p. 536, lines 18-25). Mr. Shipman then testified that he received a letter from his client, Connell Wells, during the course of his representation, and the original letter was marked for identification as State's exhibit #46. (R. p. 538, line 18 – p. 539, line 1; R. p. 838). Mr. Shipman

could not testify who gave his client the letter, or when or how it was received. (R. p. 539, line 18 – p. 540, lines 1-7).

The original unredacted letter, provided at trial by Mr. Shipman, was later admitted as State's Exhibit #46. (R. p. 606, lines 22-23; R. p. 838). The letter admitted as State's Exhibit #46 was written on the back of paperwork with Appellant's name on it. (R. p. 838). It does not appear that the redacted copy of the letter that had been provided to the prosecutor prior to trial, State's Exhibit #23, included the back with Appellant's name. Although the unredacted letter, State's Exhibit #46, was admitted in evidence, it was not sent back to the jury. (R. p. 585, line 12 – p. 586, 587, lines 1-13; R. p. 836; R. p. 838). The State, however, referred to the letter with Appellant's name on the back in closing argument. (R. p. 748, lines 4-9).

Jack Jamieson, a questioned document examiner from the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division, was qualified, over objection, as an expert witness in questioned document analysis. (R. pp. 569-575). Agent Jamieson compared State's Exhibit #23, the copy of the letter provided to the prosecutor by Mr. Shipman, to known writing samples of Appellant. (R. pp. 578-582; R. p. 836). The agent concluded that Appellant wrote the letter, State's Exhibit #23. (R. p. 580, lines 17-23; R. p. 836). State's Exhibit #23, the redacted copy was admitted in evidence subject to the previous objections made by counsel for co-defendant Babb. (R. p. 582, line 21 – p. 583, lines 1-10; R. p. 836). Counsel for Appellant did not object.³

The trial judge erred in admitting both State's Exhibit #23 and State's Exhibit #46 because both constituted privileged communication between co-defendant Wells and his attorney, Mr. Shipman. (R. p. 836; R. p. 838). The back of the letter showing paperwork with Appellant's name on it included in State's Exhibit #46 is not included in State's Exhibit #23

³ The failure to object may need to be addressed in post-conviction relief.

because the back was not turned over to the State by Mr. Shipman and not waived. (R. p. 836; R. p. 838). As to the content of the letter, once the judge allowed Wells to assert his right to remain silent at Appellant’s trial, the State should not have been able to circumvent that ruling by calling the attorney to testify about privileged communications.

In State v. Love, 275 S.C. 55, 59, 271 S.E.2d 110, 112 (1980), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

We have long recognized the attorney-client privilege against disclosure of confidential communications by a client to his attorney. In the case of South Carolina State Highway Department v. Booker, 260 S.C. 245, 195 S.E.2d 615, in discussing the privilege, we stated:

This privilege is based upon a wise public policy that considers that the interests of society are best promoted by inviting the utmost confidence on the part of the client in disclosing his secrets to his professional advisor, under the pledge of the law that such confidence should not be abused by permitting disclosure of such communications. This privilege belongs to the client and not the attorney, and may be waived by the client. 81 Am. Jur. 2d, Witnesses, Section 223; South Carolina State Highway Department v. Booker, *supra*.

In State v. Doster, 276 S.C. 647, 651, 284 S.E.2d 218, 219–20 (1981), the South Carolina Supreme Court listed the elements giving rise to the attorney-client privilege as follows:

“(1) Where legal advice of any kind is sought (2) from a professional legal adviser in his capacity as such, (3) the communications relating to that purpose (4) made in confidence (5) by the client, (6) are at his instance permanently protected (7) from disclosure by himself or by the legal adviser, (8) except the protection be waived.” 8 Wigmore, Evidence § 2292 (McNaughton rev. 1961).

The Court in Doster noted that not every communication within the attorney-client relationship is privileged writing, “This is exemplified by the widely recognized rule that the privilege does not extend to communications in furtherance of criminal, tortious or fraudulent conduct. United States v. United Shoe Machinery Corporation, 89 F.Supp. 357 (D.Mass.1950); 125 A.L.R. 508; 16 A.L.R.2d 1029.” 276 S.C. at 651, 284 S.E.2d at 220.

The letter was protected by the attorney-client privilege and should not have been disclosed at trial by the attorney. The letter was given to the attorney by the client during the course of his representation. The circumstances surrounding how the letter was received were discussed with the attorney in confidence. The communication was not in furtherance of criminal, tortious or fraudulent conduct. It was appropriate for the attorney to assert the privilege as the client was allowed to assert his right to remain silent. By analogy, in Doster the Court recognized the appropriateness of the attorney asserting the privilege when the client was deceased. The error in admitting the letter is not harmless. The original unredacted letter, State's #46, that included the back of the letter with paperwork containing Appellant's name was not seen by the jury but the State referred to the letter in closing argument. (R. p. 746, lines 4-9; R. p. 838). The State's reference in closing further linked Appellant to the letter. The content of the letter admitted as State's Exhibit #23 and seen by the jury was highly prejudicial, containing threats to Wells and his family. (R. p. 836).

CONCLUSION

Based on the above argument, this Court should reverse Appellant's convictions and remand the case for a new trial.