STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Robin B. Stillwell, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001456

RECEIVED

Mar 29 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

WILLIAM SHANE FORDHAM BROWN,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Caroline Scrantom
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 101357

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina, 29211
(803) 734-6305

W. Walter Wilkins, III
Solicitor, 13th Judicial Circuit

305 E. North St.
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 467-8282

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

ARGUMENT

If preserved for appellate review, the trial court did not err when it allowed Connell Wells’ legal counsel to provide limited testimony that he received a letter, State’s Exhibit 46, from Wells. Wells did not write the letter, and counsel provided the State with a copy of the letter to facilitate Well’s plea negotiations and to prevent a threat. By turning the letter over to the State for that purpose, Wells waived any attorney-client privilege attaching to the letter’s contents.

Background

Co-defendant Connell Wells pled guilty to this murder prior to Appellant Brown’s trial. (R. p. 224, lines 8-18). When the State called Wells to testify against Brown, Wells pled the Fifth. (R. p. 224, lines 19-24). The State later wished to introduce a letter Wells received and submitted to the State prior to reaching his plea agreement. (R. p. 531, lines 7-11). In order to authenticate that letter, the State called Wells’ former legal counsel, Chris Shipman, who delivered this limited testimony:

- (1) he used to represent Wells;
- (2) he received some documents from Wells during the course of this representation;
- (3) he received State’s Exhibit 46, a letter, in this timeframe;
- (4) he delivered a copy of State’s Exhibit 46 to the State and retained the original;

(5) he could not reveal who gave Wells the letter marked State’s Exhibit 46;

(6) he could not reveal how he received the letter marked State’s Exhibit 46.

(R. p. 537, line 17 – p. 540, line 14).⁴

The State thereafter presented a document analyst from SLED who testified that he examined a redacted copy of this letter, State’s Exhibit 23, and compared it to additional samples of Appellant Brown’s writing. (R. p. 579, line 6 – p. 580, line 16; R. pp. 836-37; *compare* R. pp. 838-40). With “[a] hundred percent certainty,” the analyst opined he had “no doubt” that Appellant Brown wrote the letter. (R. p. 580, line 17 – p. 581, line 8).

In the letter, Brown asks Wells to distance the author’s name from the crime. Brown asserts in the letter that Wells’ “statements” are the “only evidence against” Brown and puts the onus on Wells to fix that. (R. pp. 836-40; *see infra* at p. 9). The State categorized the letter as the functional equivalent of a confession by Brown. (R. p. 600, lines 7-9).

After Shipman testified, the State brought to the court’s attention that markings on the back of the original letter, State’s Exhibit 46, associated it with Appellant Brown. (R. p. 557, line 20 – p. 558, line 1). The backside of the letter bore the defendant’s name. (R. p. 586, lines 7-25). Prior to this time, the State had only ever seen a copy of the document, and the copy did not include this marking. (R. p. 558, lines 10-12). The State asked for guidance “as to how to proceed with the back of State’s Exhibit 46” when it referred to it during closing and when it came time for the jury to view the evidence during deliberations. (R. p. 558, lines 6-10).

The trial court examined the exhibit and later agreed that “the least confusing way to handle this issue is to admit State’s 46, but not allow the jury to review it outside the Court’s

⁴ Shipman also testified he received State’s Exhibit 22 from Wells during the course of his representation and that he delivered that document to Investigator McCalmont. (R. p. 537, line 24 – p. 538, line 12). State’s Exhibit 22 is not subject to the issue on appeal.

supervision” since a redaction could not be made to the original. (R. p. 585, line 12 – p. 587, line 11). The court also ruled that the State could refer to the backside of the letter during its closing argument. (R. p. 587, lines 11-13).

At closing, the State discussed the letter, its connection to the case, and its expert’s opinion that Appellant Brown wrote the letter. (R. p. 745, line 5 – p. 746, line 21). The State concluded this portion of its closing by arguing:

With respect to this letter, you should also in evaluating whether this letter came from Mr. Brown consider that it’s written on the back of paperwork with Mr. Brown’s name on it. Who else would have paperwork with Mr. Brown’s name on it if it’s not his? This letter was written by him. And it was designed to do exactly what you saw play out in this courtroom, witnesses come in here and feel threatened and pressured and intimidated to change their story that they told police back in 2016 because they’re absolutely terrified of the consequences of having to testify against these two Defendants. That’s the undercurrent of this entire trial. . . .

(R. p. 746, lines 4-21).

Assertion of Attorney-Client Privilege, and Concession of Waiver

Prior to his testimony, Shipman alerted the court that he believed that his testimony would be precluded by the Fifth Amendment or by the Rules of Professional Conduct due to his prior representation of Connell Wells, who had himself earlier invoked the Fifth Amendment. (R. p. 531, lines 3-22). Shipman asserted: “I believe that since he’s pleaded the Fifth that I can’t then go behind his back, so to speak, and kind of do a wrap around his right to remain silent in this case. . . . I don’t believe I can ethically do it. I believe I’m covered by his Fifth Amendment assertion as well. (R. p. 531, lines 3-22). Appellant Brown joined in on Shipman’s contention. (R. p. 533, lines 2-6).

The court rejected Shipman’s attempt to invoke the Fifth Amendment. (R. p. 533, lines 15-23). As the court pointed out, Wells did not make any representations in the letter, and he no

longer had any criminal charges pending before the court. (R. p. 533, lines 15-23). No one disputed that Wells himself did not pen the letter. (*See* R. p. 531, lines 23-25).

Next, Shipman asserted that attorney-client privilege precluded him from testifying about the letter. Under Shipman's theory, the letter was confidential because he discussed it with Wells in a private conversation at the jail. (R. p. 534, lines 3-10). Shipman opined that the letter should be "broadly covered by the confidentiality restrictions," as Shipman would "have to breach [his] duty to [his] client in order to honor the subpoena" and testify at Appellant Brown's trial. (R. p. 534, lines 18-21).

Ultimately, Shipman conceded that Wells waived the confidentiality of the contents of the letter when counsel provided it to the State for use in plea negotiations. (R. p. 534, line 25 – p. 535, line 1). Shortly after he received the letter, Shipman gave a copy "to the State for purposes of plea bargaining and also to prevent a threat" to his client. (R. p. 534, lines 12-17). However, Shipman maintained that he could not testify about the conditions in which he received and turned over the letter, as that would cause him to waive the confidential discussions he had with Wells prior to producing the letter to the State. (R. p. 535, lines 1-4). Shipman indicated he would tailor his answers to avoid even the implication of conversation with his client. (R. p. 537, lines 1-4).

Ruling

The Court agreed with Shipman, restricting counsel from asking "any questions that bear upon conversations that [he] may have had or any confidential discussions" Shipman had with Wells. (R. p. 535, lines 5-24). The court correctly emphasized that Shipman's testimony should be limited to his authentication of the original document so as to avoid any breach of Shipman's confidential attorney-client communications with Wells. (R. p. 535, lines 5-24).

I. *Brown's assignment of error is not preserved for appellate review.*

Appellant Brown argues that the court erred by admitting State's Exhibits 46 and 23 into evidence because the attorney-client privilege between co-defendant Wells and his legal counsel precluded the letter's admission. (Br. of App. p. 8). However, counsel for Appellant Brown did not object to the introduction of either Exhibit 23 or 46 at the time they were admitted into evidence. (R. p. 585, line 12 – p. 587, line 13; R. p. 583, lines 3-10).

“At a minimum, issue preservation requires that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge.” *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011). “[A]n issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.” *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). “Every ground of appeal ought to be so distinctly stated that the reviewing court may at once see the point which it is called upon to decide without having to ‘grope in the dark’ to ascertain the precise point at issue.” *Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010) (internal citation omitted), *abrogated on other grounds by Repko v. Cnty. of Georgetown*, 424 S.C. 494, 818 S.E.2d 743 (2018).

Though the Court is “mindful of the need to approach issue preservation rules with a practical eye and not in a rigid, hyper-technical manner,” an appellant who has not properly raised an issue to the lower court should not benefit from that issue's consideration on appeal. *Id.* at 470, 719 S.E.2d at 644-45; *see I'on, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (issue preservation rules are “meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it was considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments”). This is particularly true when an appellant fails to raise a contemporaneous objection to the introduction of a particular piece of evidence. *See State v. Johnson*, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005). “A

party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct induced.” *State v. Carlson*, 363 S.C. 586, 595, 611 S.E.2d 283, 287 (Ct. App. 2005).

Prior to the receipt of Shipman’s testimony authenticating the letter, Appellant Brown’s counsel joined in co-counsel Babb’s objection, which posed that “the Fifth Amendment”—not attorney-client privilege—barred Shipman from testifying. (R. p. 533, line 6). Counsel’s stated opposition is divisible from the attorney-client issue later posed by Shipman and reiterated on appeal. (*See* R. p. 534, lines 2-10). A party does not preserve an issue by joining in on one argument below and raising another on appeal. *State v. Benton*, 338 S.C. 151, 157, 526 S.E.2d 228, 231 (2000); *Johnson*, 363 S.C. at 58-59, 609 S.E.2d at 523 (“Because the objection was clearly based on remoteness and not the use of the moral turpitude standard, we hold that the issue regarding the use of the moral turpitude standard is not preserved for appellate review.”); *see also State v. Bonilla*, 429 S.C. 253, 273, 838 S.E.2d 1, 11 (Ct. App. 2019) (finding, in a criminal case, that “a direct appeal is not the proper mechanism by which to adjudicate” whether a client gave his counsel informed consent to pursue a particular course of conduct).

Counsel’s stated opposition is also divisible from the document’s later admission into evidence, which occurred without objection. When additional evidence is taken between an initial ruling and the later introduction of the challenged evidentiary item, counsel “must make a contemporaneous objection when the evidence is introduced” in order to properly preserve the issue. *State v. Forrester*, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001). Long after Shipman had testified to authenticate the document, the State moved to admit State’s 46.⁵ The court

⁵ The State also asked to restrict State’s 46 from going back to the jury during deliberations because the court had earlier redacted some of the letter’s contents in order to avoid improperly implicating co-defendant Babb during he and Brown’s joint trial. (R. p. 585, line 12 – p. 587, line 9; R. p. 22, line 1 – p. 27, line 8; *compare* R. pp. 836-37).

agreed and admitted the letter. (R. p. 587, lines 10-13; *compare* R. p. 537, line 17 – p. 540, line 14). Counsel did not object to the introduction of State’s Exhibit 46 at this time. (R. p. 585, line 12 – p. 587, line 13; R. p. 606, lines 22-23). Appellant Brown’s counsel only stated, “I’m not really sure what that – other than his name and so forth, I don’t know what else would be admissible there honestly. The rest of it is just –.” (R. p. 586, lines 16-19). “[A] party is not required to use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve the issue,” but they must raise the issue in a manner “sufficiently clear to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so that it can be reasonably understood by the judge.” *Herron*, 395 S.C. at 466, 719 S.E.2d at 642 (citing *Wilder Corp.*, 330 S.C. at 76, 497 S.E.2d at 733). Because counsel did not lodge any articulable objection to the State’s later motion to introduce State’s Exhibit 46, the issue is procedurally barred. *Forrester*, 343 S.C. at 642-43, 541 S.E.2d at 840; *Herron*, 395 S.C. at 466, 719 S.E.2d at 642.

Appellant’s Brown’s counsel also did not object when the State moved Exhibit 23, the redacted copy of the letter, into evidence during the testimony of its document analyst Jack Jamieson. (R. p. 582, line 18 – p. 583, line 10). A party must make a contemporaneous and specific objection to preserve an evidentiary issue for appellate review, and the failure to do so bars the issue from consideration on appeal. *Johnson*, 363 S.C. at 58-59, 609 S.E.2d at 523 (discussing contemporaneous objection rule).

The record simply reflects counsel did not lodge an articulable objection to the State’s motion to admit the letter as evidence, rendering the issue procedurally barred.

II. *The court properly admitted the letter because Wells waived any privilege regarding its contents when his counsel turned a copy of the letter over to the State for use in Wells' plea negotiations, and because Wells' assertion of the Fifth Amendment does insulate his legal counsel from authenticating a document his client did not compose.*

In limine, Shipman conceded that the document at issue was not a communication that Wells himself penned, and that the document was not penned in furtherance of the attorney-client relationship between Shipman and Wells. (R. p. 534, lines 6-8). Shipman also conceded to the court that Wells waived attorney-client privilege as to the letter's contents because Wells agreed to submit a copy of the letter to the State "for purposes of plea bargaining and also to prevent a threat." (R. p. 534, lines 12-14; R. p. 534, line 25 – p. 535, line 1; *see* R. p. 532, lines 18-21). As delineated above, Shipman tailored his testimony to do no more than authenticate the document it provided to the State. (R. p. 537, line 17 – p. 540, line 7). The State was later permitted to introduce the original document, State's Exhibit 46, and a redacted copy of the document, State's Exhibit 23, into evidence. (R. p. 583, lines 9-10; R. p. 606, lines 22-23). The attorney-client privilege did not shield either version of the letter from admission at trial.

"The attorney-client privilege protects against disclosure of confidential communications by a client to his attorney." *Tobacoville USA, Inc. v. McMaster*, 387 S.C. 287, 293, 692 S.E.2d 526, 529 (2010) (internal quotation and citation omitted). "By assuring confidentiality, the privilege encourages clients to make 'full and frank' disclosures to their attorneys, who are then better able to provide candid advice and effective representation." *Mohawk Indus., Inc. v. Carpenter*, 558 U.S. 100, 108, 130 S.Ct. 599, 606 (2009) (citation omitted). The privilege applies:

(1) where legal advice of any kind is sought (2) from a professional legal adviser in his capacity as such, (3) the communications relating to that purpose (4) made in confidence (5) by the client, (6) are at his instance permanently protected (7)

from disclosure by himself or by the legal adviser, (8) except the protection be waived.

State v. Doster, 276 S.C. 647, 651, 284 S.E.2d 218, 219-20 (1981) (citation omitted).

“This privilege belongs to the client and not the attorney, and may be waived by the client. . . . In general, the burden of establishing the privilege rests upon the party asserting it.”

State v. Love, 275 S.C. 55, 59, 271 S.E.2d 110, 112 (1980). “Although a client may waive his attorney-client privilege, the waiver must be distinct and unequivocal. Merely taking the witness stand does not constitute waiver of the privilege.” *State v. Hitopoulus*, 279 S.C. 549, 551, 309 S.E.2d 747, 749 (1983) (citing *State v. James*, 34 S.C. 49, 12 S.E. 657 (1891)). However, a client may waive the privilege by producing documents to opposing counsel. *Floyd v. Floyd*, 365 S.C. 56, 88, 615 S.E.2d 465, 482 (Ct. App. 2005), *overturned by* 2008 S.C. Acts 211, § 1 (adding S.C. Code Ann. § 62–1–110, providing communications between a lawyer and a fiduciary are subject to the attorney-client privilege unless waived by the fiduciary, even if fiduciary funds were used to compensate the lawyer).

This record demonstrates Wells waived the privilege as to the contents of the letter because his attorney furnished the letter to the State “for purposes of plea bargaining and also to prevent a threat.” (R. p. 534, lines 12-14). Shipman conceded this before the court, (R. p. 534, line 22 – p. 535, line 1), the State indicated it received the copy of the letter months before Appellant Brown’s trial, (R. p. 532, lines 18-21), and Wells pled guilty sometime prior to Appellant Brown’s trial. (R. p. 224, lines 8-18). When the record indicates that the party asserting the attorney-client privilege “produced the letters he now asserts are protected,” the privilege has been waived. *Floyd v. Floyd*, 365 S.C. at 91, 615 S.E.2d at 484; *see State v. Bonilla*, 429 S.C. at 276, 838 S.E.2d 13 (where the record indicates that the client gave informed

consent to produce privileged information to the State, the appellate court should not disturb the trial court's finding); *see* Rule 1.6, RPC, Rule 407, SCACR ("A lawyer shall not reveal information relating to the representation of a client unless the client gives informed consent, the disclosure is impliedly authorized in order to carry out the representation or the disclosure is . . . to prevent reasonably certain death or substantial bodily harm"); *see also State v. Thompson*, 329 S.C. 72, 77, 495 S.E.2d 437, 439 (1998) (declining to find that a criminal defendant impliedly waived the privilege when his attorney disclosed statements in order to negotiate a plea agreement, finding that it was "more reasonable" that the defendant expected counsel to rely on a psychiatrist's report rather than the privileged statements).

Moreover, while the State brought to the court's attention that it did not receive a copy of the back of the letter until it viewed the original at the trial, that information is not covered by the privilege. "[I]nformation—in and of itself—does not become privileged merely because it was communicated to an attorney." *In re Mt. Hawley Ins. Co.*, 427 S.C. 159, 168, 829 S.E.2d 707, 712 (2019). The attorney-client privilege only protects confidential communications. *Cloniger v. Cloniger*, 261 S.C. 603, 193 S.E.2d 647 (1973). Again, Wells did not write the letter, and no party asserted that the letter constituted a communication between Wells and his legal counsel. Because the letter itself was not a confidential communication between attorney and client, its contents were simply not covered by the privilege.

For this same reason, Wells' earlier assertion of the Fifth Amendment does not bar admission of the letter subsequent to Shipman's authentication of the document. Appellant argues that the State circumvented Wells' assertion of his right to remain silent when it called Shipman to authenticate the letter Wells received. (Br. of App. at 9). However, one party's assertion of the Fifth Amendment does not excuse that party's legal counsel from producing

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